
City   of   Mission 
Special   City   Council   Meeting 
Wednesday,   June   28,   2017 

6:00   p.m. 
  

AGENDA 
  
  

1. Resolution to set the time and date of a public hearing to consider the Fourth Amended                               
Tax Increment Financing Redevelopment Project Plan for the Mission Gateway                   
Redevelopment Project located within the boundaries of a redevelopment district in the                       
City   of   Mission,   Kansas   pursuant   to   K.S.A.   121770    et   seq.    (Page   4) 

 
2. A Resolution calling and providing for the giving of notice of a public hearing on the                               

advisability of creating a Community Improvement District in the City of Mission,                       
Kansas to be known as the Mission Gateway Community Improvement District #3 and                         
regarding the City’s intent to levy a Community Improvement District sales tax within                         
such   district.    (Page   99) 

 
3. Adjournment 

 
  
 
  
  
 







 

City   of   Mission  Item   Number:  1. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY  Date:  June   26,,   2017 

ADMINISTRATION  From:  Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Resolution   providing   notice   of   a   Public   Hearing   to   consider   the   Fourth   Amended   Mission 
Gateway   Tax   Increment   Financing   Redevelopment   Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   Resolution   calling   the   Public   Hearing   for   7:00   p.m.   at   the 
August   16,   2017   City   Council   Meeting. 

DETAILS:    On   May   24,   2017,   the   City   Council   passed   Resolution   983   calling   a   public   hearing   on 
the   Third   Amended   Mission   Gateway   Tax   Increment   Financing   Redevelopment   Plan   for   the   July 
19,   2017   City   Council   meeting.  

Over   the   last   two   weeks,   as   staff   worked   with   the   Developer   on   the   Community   Improvement 
District   (CID)   Petition,   we   became   aware   of   changes   in   the   project   budget   resulting   from   active 
negotiations   with   an   office   tenant.   Rather   than   consider   a   TIF   Project   Plan   and   a   CID   Petition 
with   different   project   budgets,   the   Developer   submitted   a   revised   TIF   Project   Plan   and   asked 
that   the   public   hearing   be   rescheduled   for   the   August   16th   City   Council   meeting. 

The   City’s   legal   advisors   felt   that   the   $44   million+   increase   in   the   project   budget   constituted   a 
substantial   change   in   the   TIF   Project   Plan,   and   that   the   Mission   Gateway   Fourth   Amended   Tax 
Increment   Financing   Redevelopment   Plan   should   be   reconsidered   by   the   Planning   Commission 
before   the   public   hearing   could   be   rescheduled. 

The   Planning   Commission   considered   the   Fourth   Amended   TIF   Project   Plan   at   their   June   26, 
2017   meeting   and   voted   80   to   approve   a   Resolution   (PC9)   finding   the   Project   Plan   in 
conformance   with   the   City’s   Comprehensive   Plan. 

The   City   Council   may   now   consider   a   Resolution   officially   calling   a   public   hearing   to   consider 
the   Redevelopment   Project   Plan.   In   order   to   meet   the   statutory   timelines,   a   Special   City   Council 
meeting   was   called   for   the   purpose   of   considering   the   Resolution. 

The   Resolution   sets   the   public   hearing   date   for   7:00   p.m.   at   the   August   16,   2017   City   Council 
meeting.      The   Resolution   does   not   commit   the   City   to   any   action   other   than   scheduling   the 
hearing   and   providing   required   notice.   A   copy   of   the   Fourth   Amended   Mission   Gateway   Tax 
Increment   Financing   Redevelopment   Plan   is   included   in   the   packet. 

 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:    N/A 
 

 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  K.S.A.   12‑1770,    et   seq. 

Line   Item   Code/Description:  N/A 

Available   Budget:  N/A 

 



(Published in the Legal Record on August 1, and August 8, 2017) 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS 
STATING THAT THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS IS CONSIDERING THE 
ADOPTION OF A FOURTH  AMENDED TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT PLAN  AND ESTABLISHING THE DATE AND TIME 
OF A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING THE ADOPTION OF A FOURTH  AMENDED 
TAX INCREMENT FINANCING REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT PLAN (PROJECT 
AREA 1).  
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Mission, Kansas (the “City”), is a second class city organized and 
existing under the constitution and laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City established the Rock Creek Redevelopment District (the “District”), 
approved by the City on January 11, 2005 and amended on February 8, 2006, by adoption of 
Ordinance No. 1190 and Ordinance No. 1195, respectively, a map of the District is attached hereto 
as Exhibit A and a legal description is attached as Exhibit B; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has previously considered redevelopment project plans for Project 
Area 1 within in the District (“Project Area 1”) and none of those plans have been implemented; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is now considering the adoption of a Fourth  Amended Tax 
Increment Financing Redevelopment Project Plan (the “Project Plan”) for Project Area 1 in 
accordance with K.S.A. §12-1770 et. seq. as amended and the legal description of Project Area 1 
is attached hereto as Exhibit C and a map of Project Area 1 is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS: 
 
 Section 1. Notice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held by the City to 
consider the adoption of the Project Plan on August 16, 2017 in the City Council Chambers located 
in City Hall, 6090 Woodson, Mission, Kansas, commencing at 7:00 p.m. 
 
 Section 2. The Project Plan, including a summary of the feasibility study, relocation 
assistance plan and financial guarantees of the prospective developer and a description and map of 
the area to be redeveloped or developed are available for inspection in the offices of the City Clerk, 
City Hall, 6090 Woodson, Mission, Kansas, Monday through Friday (other than holidays) between 
8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
 
 Section 3. The City may issue its full faith and credit tax increment bonds to finance the 
costs of implementing the proposed Plan, unless within 60 days following the date of the public 
hearing on the Project Plan a protest petition signed by 3% of the qualified voters of the City is 



filed with the City Clerk in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 25-3601 et seq., and 
amendments thereto.  If a sufficient petition is filed, no full faith and credit tax increment bonds 
shall be issued until the issuance of the bonds is approved by a majority of the voters voting at an 
election thereon.  Such election shall be called and held in the manner provided by the general bond 
law.  The failure of the voters to approve the issuance of full faith and credit tax increment bonds 
shall not prevent the City from issuing special obligation bonds in accordance with the Act. 
 
 Section 4. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to publish this Resolution 
twice in the official city newspaper with the second publication not less than one week or more 
than two weeks preceding August 16, 2017, the date set for the public hearing.  The City Clerk is 
also authorized to mail a copy of this Resolution via certified mail, return receipt requested to the 
Board of Johnson County Commissioners, the Board of Education of any school district levying 
taxes on the property within the Project Area 1 and to each owner and occupant of land within the 
proposed Project Area 1, not more than 10 days following the date of the adoption of this 
Resolution. 
 

Section 5. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption by the Governing 
Body. 
 
 ADOPTED by the Governing Body this 28th day of June 2017. 
 
 SIGNED by the Mayor this 28th day of June 2017. 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
       _________________________________ 
       Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form only: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
David K. Martin, City Attorney 















































EXHIBIT C 
 

All that part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, in the City of 
Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING at the Southwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Township 12 
South, Range 25 East; thence North 1 degree 49 minutes 20 seconds West along the West line of 
the Northwest Quarter of said Section 9 a distance of 349.28 feet (339.15 feet Deed) to a point; 
thence North 88 degrees 10 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 1740.63 feet (1742.10 feet Deed) 
to a point on the East right of way line of Roeland Drive, the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence 
North 33 degrees 29 minutes  13 seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive 
a distance of 358.19 feet to a point on the South right of way line of Johnson Drive; thence North 
67 degrees 34 minutes 47 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a 
distance of 143.70 feet to a point; thence North 68 degrees 09 minutes 28 seconds East along the 
South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 434.76 feet to a point; thence South 21 
degrees 50 minutes 32 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance 
of 1.53 feet to a point; thence North 72 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds East along the South right 
of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 342.82 feet to a point; thence in a Northeasterly direction 
along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius 
of 297.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 degrees 19 minutes 18 seconds, an arc  distance  of 
48.36 feet to a point of compound  curvature; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the South 
right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 106.25 feet, 
through a central angle of 85 degrees 00 minutes 09 seconds, an arc distance of 157.63 feet to a 
point of compound curvature, said point also lying on the West right of way line of Roe Avenue; 
thence in a Southeasterly direction along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue and along a 
curve to the right, having a radius of 397.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 degrees 59 minutes 
48 seconds, an arc distance of 69.31 feet to a point; thence South 3 degrees 03 minutes 14 second 
East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 111.19 feet to a point; thence 
South 2 degrees 07 minutes 38 seconds East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a 
distance of 200.66 feet to a point; thence  South 1 degree 54 minutes 32 seconds East along the 
West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 42.62 feet to a point on the Northwesterly right 
of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway (also known as US Highway 56) as established in Book 
200706 at Page 003864; thence South 37 degrees 23 minutes 58 seconds West along the 
Northwesterly right of way line of said Shawnee Mission Parkway a distance of 936.45 feet to the 
point of intersection of the Northwesterly right of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway and the 
East right of way line of Roeland Drive; thence North 52 degrees 36 minutes 02 seconds West 
along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 44.00 feet to a point; thence in a 
Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to the 
right, having a radius of 260.50 feet, through a central angle of 53 degrees 32 minutes 02 seconds, 
an arc distance of 243.40 feet to a point of reverse curvature; thence in a Northwesterly direction 
along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to the left, having a radius of 
490.00 feet, through a central angle of 34 degrees 25 minutes 13 seconds, an arc distance of 294.37 
feet to a point; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes 13 seconds West along the East right of way 
line of Roeland Drive a distance of 125.55 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 
721,889 Square Feet or 16.572 Acres, more or less. 



EXHIBIT D



 

59250867.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MISSION GATEWAY  

 

FOURTH AMENDED TAX INCREMENT FINANCING  

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT PLAN 

 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS  

PURSUANT TO K.S.A. § 12-1770 et seq. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 

1 
59250867.6 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. Introduction 

II. Mission Gateway – Fourth Amended Redevelopment Project Plan 

A) Subject Property 

B) Established Redevelopment District 

C) Description of Proposed Project 

D) Financing Plan 

E) Feasibility Study 

1)   Project Costs 

2) Eligible Costs 

3) Project Revenues 

4) Tax Increment Revenues and Special Obligation Bond Financing 

5) Summary of the TIF Revenues and Project Costs 

6) City of Mission Meetings and Minutes 

7) Impact on Outstanding Special Obligation Bonds 

8) Significant Contribution to Economic Development in the City 

F)  Relocation Plan 

III. Conclusion  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT LIST 

 

Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Subject Property 

Exhibit B – Map Exhibit of the Subject Property 

Exhibit C – Ordinance No. 1190 and Ordinance No. 1195 

Exhibit D – Detailed Budget 

Exhibit E – TIF Bond Proforma 

Exhibit F – City of Mission Meeting Minutes 

 



 

2 
59250867.6 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 

In accordance with the Kansas Tax Increment Financing Act, K.S.A. 12-1770 et seq. (the “Act”), 

this Fourth Amended Mission Gateway Tax Increment Financing Redevelopment Project Plan (this 

“Project Plan”) has been submitted to facilitate the redevelopment of an approximately 17 acre site (the 

“Property”) bounded by Johnson Drive on the North, Roe Avenue on the East, Shawnee Mission 

Parkway on the South, and Roeland Drive on the West in the City of Mission, Kansas (the “City”).  In the 

1980s, the site was developed and utilized as a traditional enclosed shopping mall, and as that concept 

fell out of favor in the market, vacancy rates rose and the viability of that particular use came into 

question despite desirable local demographics.   

 

In 2005, The Gateway Developers, LLC (the “Original Developer”) purchased the Property and 

worked closely with the City to formulate a redevelopment plan to demolish the existing mall and 

construct a modernized concept that would bring the Property to its highest and best use.  This plan 

served both the Original Developer’s goals of creating a long-term stable asset and the City’s goals of 

rectifying a blighted, outdated use at the City’s front door and replacing it with a dense mixed-use 

project.  It also facilitated an important City-wide goal of making it possible install critical flood 

mitigation infrastructure that would enable redevelopment of both the Property and a substantial 

portion of the City that continuously faced flood issues.   

 

In January of 2006, the Original Developer obtained initial approval of a tax increment financing 

(“TIF”) district for the Property.  A TIF redevelopment project plan was then approved that September 

2006, and that plan was amended by a later iteration in January 2008, which included a destination 

aquarium as the focal point. Shortly after this approval, the national economy began to rapidly decline, 

and market factors beyond the Original Developer’s control delayed commencement of this project.  In 

2013, a second amended redevelopment project plan was approved for the project, which omitted the 

destination aquarium in favor of a modern mixed-use concept.   

 

In 2016, the Original Developer transferred its interest in the Property to Aryeh Realty, LLC (the 

“Developer”), which now proposes to re-envision the redevelopment plan and submit this Project Plan 

for the City’s consideration.  This Project Plan proposes a mixed-use center consisting of an 

approximately 194,903 square feet of junior anchor and small shop retail and restaurants, an 

approximately 200 room hotel, and approximately 168 market-rate multi-family residential units, as well 

as a parking garage and all associated infrastructure (the “Project”).  The Project will provide living, 

working, shopping, and entertainment opportunities, culminating in an integrated and cohesive 

community that brings the Property to its highest and best use.  The Project will be critical to the City’s 

continued revitalization of its economy and progress in the redevelopment of the West Gateway and 

East Gateway areas.  It is contemplated that the Project will be constructed in three (3) phases: 

 

� Phase 1: The first phase of the Project is proposed to include: (i) construction of approximately 

55,594 square feet of “small-shop” commercial or restaurant uses; (ii) construction of 

approximately 168 apartment units; (iii) construction of related site work; and (iv) construction of 

surface parking sufficient for such uses pursuant to the City’s applicable ordinances (collectively 

referred to herein as “Phase 1”).   

 

� Phase 2: The second Phase of the Project is proposed to include: (i) construction of a parking 

garage serving the entirety of the Project and (ii) construction of an approximately 200-room 



 

3 
59250867.6 

hotel including a restaurant consisting of approximately 15,624 square feet (collectively referred 

to herein as “Phase 2”). 

 

� Phase 3: The third phase of the Project is proposed to include approximately 123,685 square feet 

of junior-anchor/”big box” commercial retail space, which may also include “small-shop” 

commercial or restaurants as tenants are identified, as well as approximately 75,000 square feet 

of office uses (referred to herein as “Phase 3”).   

 

This Project Plan is premised on the need for a combination of public and private financing.  As is 

well understood, the redevelopment of the Project has been ongoing for over a decade, and during that 

time, a total of approximately $38,134,083 in land acquisition, demolition, and predevelopment costs 

have been incurred in an effort to get the Project off the ground.  Market conditions have continued to 

create difficulties for the Project, and absent the availability of TIF, it is not economically viable to 

undertake the Project.  Accordingly, the Developer hereby proposes that the City approve this Project 

Plan and authorize the financing described herein.  This public-private partnership will be to the shared 

benefit of all stakeholders – from the City and the Developer, to neighbors of the Project, and the 

citizens of the City that have a vested interest in seeing the Project move forward.       

 

II. AMENDED TAX INCREMENT FINANCING REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT PLAN 

 

A. Subject Property 

 

As noted above, the Property subject to this Project Plan consists of approximately 17 acres 

bordered by Shawnee Mission Parkway, Roe Avenue, Johnson Drive, and Roeland Drive located within 

the City of Mission, Kansas.  A legal description and map of the subject property are attached hereto as 

Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.     

 

B. Established Redevelopment District 

 

The Property is within an established Redevelopment District approved by the City on January 

11, 2006 and amended on February 8, 2006, by adoption of Ordinance No. 1190 and Ordinance No. 

1195, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit C.  The approved District Plan designates the 

subject property as a portion of Project Area 1, providing in pertinent part: 

 

Project Area 1.  Redevelopment of the existing Mission Mall shopping center and 

adjacent property consisting of one or more commercial and residential facilities and 

all related infrastructure improvements including storm water improvements within 

the Rock Creek channel, streets, sanitary and storm sewers, water lines and all 

related expenses to redevelop and finance the redevelopment project.  

 

As described herein, this Project Plan is consistent with the established Redevelopment District. 

 

C. Description of the Proposed Project 

 

As described above, this Project Plan proposes a mixed-use center consisting of an approximately 

194,903 square feet of junior anchor and small shop retail and restaurants, an approximately 200 room 

hotel, and approximately 168 market-rate multi-family residential units, as well as a parking garage and 

all associated infrastructure.  The Project will provide living, working, shopping, and entertainment 



 

4 
59250867.6 

opportunities, culminating in an integrated and cohesive community that brings the Property to its 

highest and best use.  The Project will be critical to the City’s continued revitalization of its economy and 

progress in the redevelopment of the West Gateway and East Gateway areas.  It is contemplated that 

the Project will be constructed in three (3) phases: 

 

� Phase 1: Proposed to include: (i) construction of approximately 55,594 square feet of “small-

shop” commercial or restaurant uses; (ii) construction of approximately 168 apartment units; (iii) 

construction of related site work; and (iv) construction of surface parking sufficient for such uses 

pursuant to the City’s applicable ordinances.   

 

� Phase 2: Proposed to include: (i) construction of a parking garage serving the entirety of the 

Project and (ii) construction of an approximately 200-room hotel including one or more 

restaurants consisting of approximately 15,624 square feet. 

 

� Phase 3: The third phase of the Project is proposed to include approximately 123,685 square feet 

of junior-anchor/”big box” commercial retail space, which may also include “small-shop” 

commercial or restaurants as tenants are identified, as well as approximately 75,000 square feet 

of office uses. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer will only construct specific components within each 

phase as specific tenants and users are identified.  This Plan is not intended to require or limit any 

particular use, size of any particular component, or inclusion of a particular component in any phase.  To 

the extent certain uses are deemed impracticable, or tenants or users cannot be identified, then 

particular components of the Project may be modified, reduced, or not constructed at all.  For example, 

it is the Developer’s present intent to construct approximately 75,000 square feet of office in Phase 3.  

However, if the Developer is unable to secure office users or tenants, then the office component may 

not be constructed, or may be delayed until a time when users or tenants can be secured.  To the extent 

any such particular component is changed or not constructed, then the costs associated with that 

component may also change or may not be incurred.  There may then be corresponding modifications in 

the amount of TIF revenue generated by a modification, delay, or omission of the construction of any 

particular component of the Project as contemplated herein.   

 

D. Financing Plan 

 

The viability of this Project is dependent upon a combination of private and public financing 

mechanisms.  In addition to private equity and debt, TIF and Community Improvement District (“CID”) 

financing and other public sources may be utilized as approved by the City.  As contemplated herein, it is 

envisioned that the Developer will commence construction of the Project on the assumption that all 

incentive revenue streams will be disbursed to the Developer on a “pay-as-you-go” basis.  If at any point 

it becomes marketable to issue special obligation bonds, the Developer and the City shall work together 

in good faith in support of such issuance, and eligible costs of the Project may be paid by the revenues of 

such bond issuance.  It is important to note that the current iteration of the Project Plan envisions the 

use of special obligation bonds only, meaning that no City support, backing, or credit of the bonds will 

occur unless otherwise specifically authorized by the City.  For the purposes of accurately stating 

revenue estimates, this Plan provides figures valued in two ways: (1) the gross revenues generated over 

the period of collection contemplated hereunder (meaning the total collections for that period) and (2) 

bonded figures, assuming a 6% interest rate, 125% coverage, and 14% costs of issuance.          

 



 

5 
59250867.6 

As detailed in Section E below, the total estimated cost to complete the Project is approximately 

$214,558,862.  Financing of this amount shall be provided by (A) TIF financing; (B) eligible CID financing; 

and (C) costs not financed with the above funding sources will be financed through private equity and 

debt.   

 

E. Feasibility Study 

 

Pursuant to the Act, a study has been performed to determine whether the Project’s estimated 

benefits will exceed its cost, and that the income therefrom will be sufficient to pay the costs of the 

Project.  Various consultants and members of the development team with experience and expertise in 

the actual design, development, financing, management and leasing of projects of similar scope and 

nature were utilized for the feasibility study.  Further, outside resources were consulted to compare and 

verify the cost and revenue projections including outside industry sources and actual taxing jurisdiction 

data where available.  The results of this study are as follows:  

 

1. Project Costs.  The total estimated cost to complete the Project is 

$214,558,862.1  Below is a summary of the estimated costs, as determined from contract prices, 

engineering estimates and the Developer’s estimates.  A detailed budget is included as Exhibit D.   

 
ESTIMATED TOTAL COSTS 

 

Total 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment $38,134,083 

Site Work, Infrastructure & Parking $35,501,500 

Hard Costs $109,670,271 

Soft Costs $20,492,974 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Costs $473,741 

Construction Loan Closing Costs $3,860,740 

Interest Reserve $6,425,552 

Total: $214,558,861 

 

2. Eligible Costs.  Pursuant to the Act, only certain costs are eligible for TIF 

financing and reimbursement.  Of the total project costs listed above, $79,277,764 (or 36.95%) qualifies 

under the Act as “Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs,” meaning that only those costs may be financed 

using TIF revenues.  The viability of the Project as planned hinges on obtaining TIF financing and 

reimbursement for the Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs, which are set forth by category and 

amount below (and noted in further detail in Exhibit D): 

 

(follows on separate page)

                                                        
1
 This amount is subject to change as actual costs are ascertained and incurred.  Costs are exclusive of private 

interest incurred to finance such costs.   



 

6 
59250867.6 

 
ESTIMATED ELIGIBLE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT COSTS

2
 

 

TIF Eligible Eligible % 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment $38,134,083 100.00% 

Site Work, Infrastructure & Parking $35,501,500 100.00% 

Hard Costs $2,139,996 1.95% 

Soft Costs $1,348,310 6.58% 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Costs $94,830 20.02% 

Construction Loan Closing Costs $772,818 20.02% 

Interest Reserve $1,286,226 20.02% 

Total: $79,277,764 36.95% 

 

 

 3. Project Revenues 

 

Gross TIF revenues generated over a period of 20 years, as provided under the Act, are 

estimated to be $64,841,405.  The estimated TIF revenues presume a 1.5% annual escalation in property 

taxes and a 2% annual increase in sales revenues.  Assuming a 6% interest rate, 125% coverage, and 14% 

costs of issuance, this gross revenue stream could support a bond issuance of approximately 

$23,163,649.             

 

The Project will generate TIF revenues from the following sources permitted by the Act: 

 

a) Ad Valorem Tax Increment Revenues – the differential between the ad valorem taxes 

generated by real property within the TIF District as of the date the TIF District was 

established and future ad valorem taxes which will be generated after the 

redevelopment, (less ad valorem taxes not allowed to be captured pursuant to the Act); 

and 

 

b) City Sales Tax – the portion of the City’s Sales Tax undedicated for other purposes, 

which is currently 1%, plus the portion of the Johnson County sales tax committed to the 

City, which for the purposes of this Project Plan is assumed to be an additional 

0.0107624%.        

 

c) Transient Guest Tax – all transient guest taxes generated from the hotel within the 

Project, at the City’s current transient guest tax rate of 9%. 

 

A. Ad Valorem Tax Increment Captured 

 

The assessed value of the Property in at the time the TIF district was created in 2006 was 

$1,811,390.  This assessed value serves as the base against which future Project values can be compared 

                                                        
2
 This amount is subject to change as actual costs are ascertained and incurred.  This Project Plan contemplates 

that all TIF revenue generated hereby will be available to repay Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs, whether on 

a “pay-as-you-go” basis or by the issuance of TIF bonds.  Costs are exclusive of private interest costs incurred to 

finance such Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs, which shall be reimbursable with TIF revenues if incurred to 

finance any Eligible Redevelopment Project Costs.     



 

7 
59250867.6 

in order to determine the amount of Ad Valorem Tax Increment Revenues that will be generated by the 

Project.  Upon completion of the Project, it is estimated that the Property will have an assessed value of 

$12,628,244, growing annually with inflation at an assumed 1.5%.  The cumulative difference between 

the projected assessed value and the base assessed value creates a tax increment of $24,978,710 over 

the TIF collection period (supporting estimated bond proceeds of $8,961,113, assuming a 6% interest 

rate, 125% coverage, and 14% costs of issuance).   

 

These conclusions are based on and confirmed against anticipated Project Costs, published tax 

appraisals for similar developments in Johnson County, and the valuation methodology historically 

utilized by the Johnson County Appraiser’s Office for comparable property.   

 

B. City Sales Tax Revenue Captured 

 

 It is estimated that sales within the Project will be $101,844,527 at stabilization, growing 2% 

annually thereafter for the duration of the Project Plan.  Based upon the undedicated portion of the City 

Sales Tax of 1%, plus the portion of the County sales tax committed to the City, TIF revenues derived 

from City Sales Tax are anticipated to generate sales tax increment of $21,831,761 over the TIF 

collection period (supporting estimated bond proceeds of $7,826,866, assuming a 6% interest rate, 

125% coverage, and 14% costs of issuance).    

 

   C. Transient Guest Tax Captured 

 

 The hotel within the Project is estimated to produce room sales of $8,763,333 at stabilization, 

growing by 3% annually thereafter.  All such sales will be subject to City’s 9% transient guest tax rate.  

Over the course of the TIF collection period, these transient guest tax revenues are estimated to 

generate $18,030,934 (supporting estimated bond proceeds of $6,375,669, assuming a 6% interest rate, 

125% coverage, and 14% costs of issuance).   

 

4. Tax Increment Revenues and Special Obligation Bond Financing 

 

Based on the Project’s captured Ad Valorem Tax Increment, City Sales Tax, and transient guest 

tax revenues for a period of 20 years, such revenue stream is estimated to generate $64,841,405 over 

the course of the 20-year TIF collection period, which produces $23,163,649 in bond proceeds, assuming 

a 6% interest rate, 125% coverage, and 14% costs of issuance.  Exhibit E sets forth a principal and 

interest schedule along with the relevant calculations and assumptions utilized to reach these figures. 

Precise bond factors will be agreed upon if and when bonds are issued in support of the Project.  The 

balance of any TIF revenue remaining after the repayment of any special obligations issued in support of 

the Project may be utilized by the Developer to repay any outstanding Eligible Redevelopment Project 

Costs on a pay-as-you-go basis, or via a subsequent bond issuance at the discretion of the City.     
 

5. Summary of the TIF Revenues and Project Costs 

 

Based on the Plan’s (1) estimated project costs (2) Estimated TIF revenues, and (3) private 

debt/equity and other financial incentives, the net TIF revenues will be sufficient to pay the costs of the 

Project, as contemplated under the Act, when supplemented by private debt, equity, and such other 

financial incentives.   

 

6. City of Mission Meetings and Minutes 



 

8 
59250867.6 

 

Upon approval of this Project Plan by the City, the City Clerk will attach the minutes of all City 

meetings where the Project was discussed as Exhibit F. 

 

7. Impact on Outstanding Bonds 

 

If bonds are issued in support of the Project, such bonds shall be payable solely from TIF 

revenues (or other incentive revenues) generated within the Project.  Accordingly, it is anticipated that 

there will be no impact on bonds payable from revenues described in (a)(1)(D) of K.S.A. 12-1774 and 

amendments thereto caused by the Project. 

 

8. Significant Contribution to Economic Development in the City 

 

The redevelopment of the Property as proposed herein will provide significant economic 

benefits for the City by, among other things, creating a substantial commercial activity within a 

previously blighted area of the City.   

 

In particular, demolition of the former shopping mall on the Property served a vital public 

purpose of facilitating a City-wide drainage project that benefitted the entire area surrounding the 

Property.  In the future, the Project will provide new shopping and living opportunities, employment for 

the City’s residents, and it will further the City’s aim of redeveloping the East and West Gateway target 

areas.  In addition, the Project will create viable long-term sales and property tax revenues for the City, 

as well as employment and commerce.  It is anticipated that the Project will also be a catalyst to further 

revitalization within the City, with the net result of the Project being a revitalized economy for the City 

as a whole.  The benefits derived from the Project will far exceed any costs thereof. 

 

There are also immediate and long-term quantifiable monetary benefits to the City from the 

Project.  The following table provides calculations as to financial benefits both during and after the TIF 

collection period: 
 

City Financial Benefits During TIF Period:   

  
Annual at Stabilization Cumulative Over TIF Period 

.25% Street Sales Tax: $190,466 $6,129,672 

.375% Park Sales Tax: $285,698 $9,194,509 

Business License/Franchise Fees: $10,200 $257,833 

Stormwater Debt Repayment: $599,596 $11,991,916 

 
Total: $1,085,960 $27,573,930 

    
Annual City Financial Benefits After TIF Period: 

 

  
Annual After TIF Period 

 
Annual Sales Tax Revenue: $2,444,587 

 
Annual Transient Guest Tax Revenue: $1,332,590 

 
Annual City Property Tax: $253,576 

 
Annual City Share of County Sales Tax: $16,191 

 
Annual Business License Fees: $15,157 

 

 
Total Annual Revenue After TIF: $4,062,100  

 
 



 

9 
59250867.6 

To put these figures in perspective, at stabilization, it is estimated that the annual revenues 

generated by the Project (after deducting TIF revenues) will comprise approximately 10.65% of the City’s 

entire budget.  The revenues at stabilization would also support approximately 24.27% of the City’s 

debt-service payments on other City-wide obligations.  At completion of the TIF collection period, it is 

estimated that the Project will produce revenues sufficient to support 24.81% of the City’s budget.     

 

The Project will also generate substantial job creation and annual visitation, which will produce 

spin-off economic benefits.  Estimates are as follows: 

 

Job/Visitation Creation 
 

Est. Jobs Created (1 Employee/1,000 SF): 473 

Estimated Annual Visitors: 2,500,000 

Estimated Overnight Visitors: 65,000 

 

F. Relocation Plan 

 

The Developer, Aryeh Realty, LLC, or the City owns all of the Property in fee simple.  These 

properties were acquired through negotiated arms-length transactions; thus, any funds required for 

relocation were included in the purchase price.  Certain relocation payments were made to tenants that 

occupied the Property at the time it was purchased by the Developer, which are among the 

predevelopment costs to be reimbursed with TIF revenues.      

 

III. CONCLUSION 

 

 Based on the foregoing, the City and Developer hereby submit this Project Plan for public 

hearing and due consideration.   

 

 



 

59250867.6 

EXHIBIT A – LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

Lot 1, The Gateway First Plat, Part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, City 

of Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, less any portions in dedicated public street right of way (if any), 

more particularly described as: 

 

All that part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, in the City of Mission, 

Johnson County, Kansas, described as follows: 

 

COMMENCING at the Southwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Township 12 South, 

Range 25 East; thence North 1 degree 49 minutes 20 seconds West along the West line of the Northwest 

Quarter of said Section 9 a distance of 349.28 feet (339.15 feet Deed) to a point; thence North 88 

degrees 10 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 1740.63 feet (1742.10 feet Deed) to a point on the 

East right of way line of Roeland Drive, the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes  

13 seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 358.19 feet to a point on 

the South right of way line of Johnson Drive; thence North 67 degrees 34 minutes 47 seconds East along 

the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 143.70 feet to a point; thence North 68 

degrees 09 minutes 28 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 

434.76 feet to a point; thence South 21 degrees 50 minutes 32 seconds East along the South right of way 

line of Johnson Drive a distance of 1.53 feet to a point; thence North 72 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds 

East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 342.82 feet to a point; thence in a 

Northeasterly direction along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, 

having a radius of 297.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 degrees 19 minutes 18 seconds, an arc  

distance  of 48.36 feet to a point of compound  curvature; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the 

South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 106.25 feet, 

through a central angle of 85 degrees 00 minutes 09 seconds, an arc distance of 157.63 feet to a point of 

compound curvature, said point also lying on the West right of way line of Roe Avenue; thence in a 

Southeasterly direction along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue and along a curve to the right, 

having a radius of 397.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 degrees 59 minutes 48 seconds, an arc 

distance of 69.31 feet to a point; thence South 3 degrees 03 minutes 14 second East along the West 

right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 111.19 feet to a point; thence South 2 degrees 07 minutes 

38 seconds East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 200.66 feet to a point; 

thence  South 1 degree 54 minutes 32 seconds East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a 

distance of 42.62 feet to a point on the Northwesterly right of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway 

(also known as US Highway 56) as established in Book 200706 at Page 003864; thence South 37 degrees 

23 minutes 58 seconds West along the Northwesterly right of way line of said Shawnee Mission Parkway 

a distance of 936.45 feet to the point of intersection of the Northwesterly right of way line of Shawnee 

Mission Parkway and the East right of way line of Roeland Drive; thence North 52 degrees 36 minutes 02 

seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 44.00 feet to a point; 

thence in a Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve 

to the right, having a radius of 260.50 feet, through a central angle of 53 degrees 32 minutes 02 

seconds, an arc distance of 243.40 feet to a point of reverse curvature; thence in a Northwesterly 

direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to the left, having a radius 

of 490.00 feet, through a central angle of 34 degrees 25 minutes 13 seconds, an arc distance of 294.37 

feet to a point; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes 13 seconds West along the East right of way line of 

Roeland Drive a distance of 125.55 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 721,889 Square 

Feet or 16.572 Acres, more or less. 

 



 

59250867.6  

EXHIBIT B – MAP EXHIBIT 

 



 

59250867.6  

EXHIBIT C – ORDINANCE NO. 1190 AND ORDINANCE NO. 1195 

 







































































































 

59250867.6  

EXHIBIT D – DETAILED BUDGET 

 
 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs Total TIF Eligible % TIF Eligible 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs $38,134,083 $38,134,083 100.00% 

    Total Land Costs $38,134,083 $38,134,083 100.00% 

    Site Work, Infrastructure & Parking 

   Hard Costs - Parking Garage (1,041 Spaces) $15,010,155 $15,010,155 100.00% 

Stormwater Improvements $11,991,916 $11,991,916 100.00% 

Sitework $7,999,429 $7,999,429 100.00% 

Offsite $500,000 $500,000 100.00% 

 

$35,501,500 $35,501,500 100.00% 

    Hard Costs   

  

    Hard Costs Retail (Roeland) $3,854,490 $0 0.00% 

Hard Costs Retail (Johnson) $2,066,827 $0 0.00% 

Hard Costs Junior Anchors $32,224,500 $0 0.00% 

Hard Costs Hotel (includes Restaurant & Spa)  $23,745,480 $0 0.00% 

Hard Costs Residential $22,295,094 $0 0.00% 

Hard Costs Office $9,750,000 $0 0.00% 

Payment & Performance Bonds $523,457 $104,782 20.02% 

Insurance/Builders Risk $1,235,477 $247,310 20.02% 

General Contractor Fee $2,830,020 $566,495 20.02% 

Tenant Improvements $5,043,180 $0 0.00% 

Contingency $6,101,746 $1,221,408 20.02% 

Total Hard Costs $109,670,271 $2,139,996 1.95% 

    

 

Hard Construction Costs 

(Less Stormwater): $117,445,975 

 

 

Building Costs: $93,936,391 

 

 

Soft Cost TIF Eligibility %: 20.02% 

 Soft Costs 

   Architecture/Engineering Services $3,248,652 $650,294 20.02% 

Legal $375,000 $75,065 20.02% 

Platting $75,000 $15,013 20.02% 

Civil Engineer (includes geo-tech and survey) $29,000 $5,805 20.02% 

Testing & Special Inspections $200,000 $40,035 20.02% 

Residential Marketing and FF&E $358,000 $71,662 20.02% 

Project Branding & Marketing $50,000 $10,009 20.02% 

Farmers Interest $504,000 $100,887 20.02% 

Hotel Pre Opening $1,000,000 $0 0.00% 



 

59250867.6  

Hotel Supplies $400,000 $0 0.00% 

Hotel FFE $3,400,000 $0 0.00% 

Hotel Operator Technical Services Fee $200,000 $0 0.00% 

Development Fee $4,564,451 $0 0.00% 

Project Staffing $2,250,000 $0 0.00% 

Residential Staffing $150,000 $0 0.00% 

Permit & Fees $796,053 $159,349 20.02% 

Accounting (Audit, etc.) $50,000 $10,009 20.02% 

Developer Reimbursements $300,000 $60,052 20.02% 

Leasing Commissions $1,792,817 $0 0.00% 

Soft Cost Contingency $750,000 $150,130 20.02% 

Total Soft Costs $20,492,974 $1,348,310 6.58% 

    Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost 

   Mortgage Broker Fee $57,029 $11,416 20.02% 

Bank Fee $114,059 $22,832 20.02% 

Title Insurance $85,544 $17,124 20.02% 

Mortgage Recording Tax $17,109 $3,425 20.02% 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $200,000 $40,035 20.02% 

3rd Parties $0 $0 20.02% 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost $473,741 $94,830 20.02% 

    Construction Loan Closing Cost 

   Mortgage Broker Fee $616,821 $123,471 20.02% 

Bank Fee $1,233,642 $246,943 20.02% 

Title Insurance $925,231 $185,207 20.02% 

Mortgage Recording Tax $185,046 $37,041 20.02% 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $500,000 $100,087 20.02% 

Construction Monitoring $150,000 $30,026 20.02% 

3rd Parties $250,000 $50,043 20.02% 

Construction Loan Closing Cost $3,860,740 $772,818 20.02% 

    Interest Reserve 

   Construction Loan Interest Reserve $3,000,000 $600,521 20.02% 

Bond Payment Reserve $2,399,022 $480,221 20.02% 

Mezzanine Loan Interest Reserve $1,026,530 $205,484 20.02% 

Total Financing Costs $6,425,552 $1,286,226 20.02% 

    TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS $214,558,862 $79,277,764 36.95% 



 

59250867.6 

EXHIBIT E – TIF BOND PROFORMA 

(Follows on separate page) 
 



TIF Bond Proceeds: $23,163,649

Square 

Footage/Keys

Appraised Value 

PSF/Key
Appraised Value Assessed Value Sales PSF Room Sales Food & Beverage

Total Non-Room 

Sales

PROJECT COMPONENT

Small Shop Roeland 36,189 $150.00 $5,428,350 $1,357,088 $450 $16,285,050

Small Shop Johnson 19,405 $150.00 $2,910,750 $727,688 $350 $6,791,750

Residential 177,806 $100.00 $17,780,600 $2,044,769 $0.00 $0

Junior Anchors 139,500 $60.00 $8,370,000 $2,092,500 $430 $59,985,000

Hotel 200 $75,000.00 $15,000,000 $3,750,000 $8,763,333 $382,094 $382,094

Restaurant 15,624 $200.00 $3,124,800 $781,200 $600 $9,374,400

Office 75,000 $100.00 $7,500,000 $1,875,000

TOTAL: 463,524 $12,628,244 $8,763,333 $92,818,294

Commercial Assessment: 25%

Residential Assessment: 11.5% 194,903 55,594

Year
Base Assessed 

Value

Projected 

Assessed Value
Project Sales Hotel Room Sales

Real Estate 

Increment

TIF Sales Tax 

Revenue

TIF Transient Guest 

Tax Revenue
Total TIF Revenue

1 $1,811,390 $1,811,390 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

2 $1,811,390 $4,419,885 $32,486,403 $3,067,167 $293,560 $359,362 $276,045 $928,967

3 $1,811,390 $9,471,183 $69,613,721 $6,572,500 $862,033 $770,062 $591,525 $2,223,620

4 $1,811,390 $12,628,244 $92,818,294 $8,763,333 $1,217,329 $1,026,749 $788,700 $3,032,778

5 $1,811,390 $12,817,668 $94,674,660 $9,026,233 $1,238,646 $1,048,170 $812,361 $3,099,177

6 $1,811,390 $13,009,933 $96,568,153 $9,297,020 $1,260,284 $1,070,045 $836,732 $3,167,061

7 $1,811,390 $13,205,082 $98,499,516 $9,575,931 $1,282,246 $1,092,386 $861,834 $3,236,466

8 $1,811,390 $13,403,158 $100,469,506 $9,863,208 $1,304,538 $1,115,202 $887,689 $3,307,428

9 $1,811,390 $13,604,205 $102,478,897 $10,159,105 $1,327,163 $1,138,503 $914,319 $3,379,985

10 $1,811,390 $13,808,268 $104,528,475 $10,463,878 $1,350,129 $1,162,299 $941,749 $3,454,177

11 $1,811,390 $14,015,392 $106,619,044 $10,777,794 $1,373,438 $1,186,603 $970,001 $3,530,043

12 $1,811,390 $14,225,623 $108,751,425 $11,101,128 $1,397,098 $1,211,425 $999,102 $3,607,624

13 $1,811,390 $14,439,008 $110,926,453 $11,434,162 $1,421,112 $1,236,775 $1,029,075 $3,686,962

14 $1,811,390 $14,655,593 $113,144,982 $11,777,187 $1,445,487 $1,262,666 $1,059,947 $3,768,100

15 $1,811,390 $14,875,427 $115,407,882 $12,130,502 $1,470,227 $1,289,110 $1,091,745 $3,851,082

16 $1,811,390 $15,098,558 $117,716,040 $12,494,417 $1,495,338 $1,316,118 $1,124,498 $3,935,954

17 $1,811,390 $15,325,036 $120,070,361 $12,869,250 $1,520,826 $1,343,704 $1,158,232 $4,022,762

18 $1,811,390 $15,554,912 $122,471,768 $13,255,327 $1,546,696 $1,371,878 $1,192,979 $4,111,554

19 $1,811,390 $15,788,236 $124,921,203 $13,652,987 $1,572,954 $1,400,656 $1,228,769 $4,202,379

20 $1,811,390 $16,025,059 $127,419,627 $14,062,577 $1,599,606 $1,430,049 $1,265,632 $4,295,287

21 $129,968,020 $14,484,454

22 $132,567,380 $14,918,988

TOTALS $24,978,710 $21,831,761 $18,030,934 $64,841,405

NET PRESENT VALUE 6.00% $13,024,874 $11,376,259 $9,266,961 $33,668,095

Gross Bond Proceeds (NPV of Revenue Divided by DSCR) 125% $10,419,899 $9,101,007 $7,413,569 $26,934,476

Less:  Bond Issuance 14% ($1,458,786) ($1,274,141) ($1,037,900) ($3,770,827)

Net Bond Proceeds $8,961,113 $7,826,866 $6,375,669 $23,163,649

Notes: Assessed Value Sales Mill Levy Rates Captured

(1) Percentage Online Year 1: 0% 0% State 1.5000 0.0000

(2) Percentage Online Year 2: 35% 35% County 19.5640 19.5640

(3) Percentage Online Year 3: 75% 75% College 9.4610 9.4610

(4) Percentage Online Year 4: 100% 100% Park 3.0990 3.0990

(5) Annual Increase in sales: 2% City 18.3540 18.3540

(6) Annual increase in assessed value: 1.5% School 48.4770 28.4770

(7) TIF Mill Levy Rate: 112.5400 School Bond 7.4290 7.4290

(8) Sales Tax Subject to TIF 1.0107624% Drainage 10.4990 10.4990

(9) Transient Guest Tax Rate Subject to TIF: 9% Fire 11.7500 11.7500

(10) Current Base Assessed Value: $254,696 Library 3.9070 3.9070

(11) TIF Base Assessed Value: $1,811,390

(12) CID Rate: 1.00% Total: 134.0400 112.5400

(13) Hotel Sales Annual Increase 3%

 49382854.5

 55014735.1



 

59250867.6 

EXHIBIT F – CITY OF MISSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

City   of   Mission  Item   Number:  2. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY  Date:  June   26,   2017 

Administration  From:  Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Resolution   giving   notice   that   the   City   of   Mission   is   considering   the   establishment   of   a   new 
Community   Improvement   District   (Gateway   CID   #3)   for   the   Gateway   project   and   setting   a   date 
and   time   for   a   public   hearing. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   Resolution   setting   the   date   and   time   for   a   public   hearing   to 
consider   the   petition   for   the   Gateway   Community   Improvement   District   (CID)   #3   for   7:00   p.m.   on 
August   16,   2017   at   Mission   City   Hall,   6090   Woodson,   Mission,   KS. 
 
DETAILS:       The   Gateway   project   currently   has   two   Community   Improvement   Districts   (Gateway 
CID   #1   and   Gateway   CID   #2)   established   on   the   site.    The   developer   has   submitted   a   new   CID 
Petition   associated   with   the   current   project,   which   would   replace   the   two   separate   districts   with 
one   with   a   1.00%   CID   sales   tax   that   would   begin   on   January   1,   2019.   State   statute   requires   that 
the   City   Council   pass   a   Resolution   giving   notice   of   the   intent   to   consider   the   petition,   and   setting 
the   date   and   time   for   a   public   hearing. 
 
The   Developer   previously   requested   that   the   implementation   dates   for   the   Gateway   CID 
Districts   #1   and   #2   be   extended   to   July   1,   2018.   At   the   June   21,   2017   City   Council   meeting, 
Ordinances   1461   and   1462      were   approved   granting   these   extensions,   and   the   City   has   notified 
the   Kansas   Department   of   Revenue   accordingly.  
 
The   Resolution   under   consideration   officially   sets   the   public   hearing   on   the   Gateway   Community 
Improvement   District   #3   for   August   16,   2017   at   7:00   p.m.   at   the   City   Council   meeting.   If 
approved,   Gateway   CID   #3   would   replace   Gateway   CID’s   #1   and   #2.   The   Resolution   does   not 
commit   the   City   Council   to   any   action   except   scheduling   the   public   hearing   and   providing   the 
required   notice. 
 
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       NA 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  K.S.A.   126a26    et.   seq 

Line   Item   Code/Description:  NA 

Available   Budget:  NA 

 



 

55854322.2 

PETITION FOR THE CREATION OF THE MISSION GATEWAY 

COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

TO: The Governing Body,  
City of Mission, Kansas  

 
The undersigned, being the owner of record, whether resident or not, of the following: 
 
1. More than fifty-five percent (55%) of the land area contained within the hereinafter 

described community improvement district; and 
2. More than fifty-five percent (55%) by assessed value of the land area contained 

within the hereinafter described community improvement district. 
 

hereby petitions the City of Mission, Kansas (the “City”) to create a community 
improvement district and authorize the proposed projects hereinafter set forth, all in the 

manner provided by K.S.A § 12-6a26, et seq. (the “Act”).  In furtherance of such request, 
the petitioner states as follows: 

 

1. MAP AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DISTRICT 

 

A map generally depicting the proposed community improvement district (the 

“District”) is attached hereto as EXHIBIT “A”.  The legal description of the District 

is attached hereto as EXHIBIT “B”.   

 

2. GENERAL NATURE OF THE PROJECTS  

 

The general nature of the proposed projects to be funded by the District (the 

“Projects”) is to promote the development of a new mixed-use commercial 
development located generally at the northeast corner of Shawnee Mission Parkway 
and Roeland Drive in the City of Mission, Kansas.  The Projects may be more 
particularly described as the construction, maintenance, and procurement of certain 
improvements, costs, and services within the District, including, but not limited to: 
land acquisition, infrastructure related items, sidewalks, parking lots, drainage 
improvements, buildings, tenant improvements, utilities, landscaping, lighting, signage, 
marketing and advertisement, cleaning and maintenance, security, soft costs of the 
Projects, and the City and the petitioner’s administrative costs in establishing and 
maintaining the District, and any other items permitted to be financed within the 
District under the Act.   
 

3. ESTIMATED COST 

 

The estimated or probable cost of the Projects is $214,558,862.  See the attached 

EXHIBIT “C” for a detailed budget.  
 
 



 

55854322.2 

4. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING 

 

It is proposed that the Projects be financed through a combination of private equity, 
private debt, community improvement district financing, and tax increment financing.  
It is proposed that community improvement district revenue will be made available to 
finance the cost of the Projects through the issuance of pay-as-you-go financing, as 
defined in the Act, special obligation revenue bonds, or any combination of these 
methods as further described herein.   
 

5. PROPOSED AMOUNT OF SALES TAX 

 

It is being proposed that the Projects be financed in part through the levying of a one 
percent (1.00%) community improvement retail sales tax as authorized by the Act with 
such sales tax to commence on January 1, 2019 or such other date as shall be 
approved by ordinance of the City. 

 

6. PROPOSED METHOD AND AMOUNT OF ASSESSMENT 

 

There are no assessments proposed by this Petition other than the sales tax described 
herein.  

 

7. NOTICE TO PETITION SIGNATORY 

 

Names may not be withdrawn from this Petition by the signatory hereto after the City 
commences consideration of this Petition, or later than seven (7) days after the filing 
hereof with the City Clerk, whichever occurs first.   
 

 





 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

MAP OF DISTRICT 

 



 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 

 
Lot 1, The Gateway First Plat, Part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, City 

of Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, less any portions in dedicated public street right of way (if any), 

more particularly described as: 

 

All that part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, in the City of Mission, 

Johnson County, Kansas, described as follows: 

 

COMMENCING at the Southwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Township 12 South, 

Range 25 East; thence North 1 degree 49 minutes 20 seconds West along the West line of the Northwest 

Quarter of said Section 9 a distance of 349.28 feet (339.15 feet Deed) to a point; thence North 88 degrees 

10 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 1740.63 feet (1742.10 feet Deed) to a point on the East right of 

way line of Roeland Drive, the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes  13 seconds 

West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 358.19 feet to a point on the South 

right of way line of Johnson Drive; thence North 67 degrees 34 minutes 47 seconds East along the South 

right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 143.70 feet to a point; thence North 68 degrees 09 minutes 

28 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 434.76 feet to a point; 

thence South 21 degrees 50 minutes 32 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a 

distance of 1.53 feet to a point; thence North 72 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds East along the South right 

of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 342.82 feet to a point; thence in a Northeasterly direction along 

the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 297.25 feet, 

through a central angle of 9 degrees 19 minutes 18 seconds, an arc  distance  of 48.36 feet to a point of 

compound  curvature; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the South right of way line of Johnson 

Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 106.25 feet, through a central angle of 85 degrees 

00 minutes 09 seconds, an arc distance of 157.63 feet to a point of compound curvature, said point also 

lying on the West right of way line of Roe Avenue; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the West right 

of way line of Roe Avenue and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 397.25 feet, through a central 

angle of 9 degrees 59 minutes 48 seconds, an arc distance of 69.31 feet to a point; thence South 3 degrees 

03 minutes 14 second East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 111.19 feet to a 

point; thence South 2 degrees 07 minutes 38 seconds East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue 

a distance of 200.66 feet to a point; thence  South 1 degree 54 minutes 32 seconds East along the West 

right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 42.62 feet to a point on the Northwesterly right of way line of 

Shawnee Mission Parkway (also known as US Highway 56) as established in Book 200706 at Page 

003864; thence South 37 degrees 23 minutes 58 seconds West along the Northwesterly right of way line of 

said Shawnee Mission Parkway a distance of 936.45 feet to the point of intersection of the Northwesterly 

right of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway and the East right of way line of Roeland Drive; thence 

North 52 degrees 36 minutes 02 seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance 

of 44.00 feet to a point; thence in a Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland 

Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 260.50 feet, through a central angle of 53 degrees 

32 minutes 02 seconds, an arc distance of 243.40 feet to a point of reverse curvature; thence in a 

Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to the left, 

having a radius of 490.00 feet, through a central angle of 34 degrees 25 minutes 13 seconds, an arc 

distance of 294.37 feet to a point; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes 13 seconds West along the East 

right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 125.55 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and 

containing 721,889 Square Feet or 16.572 Acres, more or less. 



 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “C” 
ESTIMATED PROBABLE COST OF PROJECTS 

 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs Total 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs $38,134,083 

Total Land Costs $38,134,083 

Site Work, Infrastructure & Parking 

Hard Costs - Parking Garage (1,041 Spaces) $15,010,155 

Stormwater Improvements $11,991,916 

Sitework $7,999,429 

Offsite $500,000 

$35,501,500 

Hard Costs   

 

Hard Costs Retail (Roeland) $3,854,490 

Hard Costs Retail (Johnson) $2,066,827 

Hard Costs Junior Anchors $32,224,500 

Hard Costs Hotel (includes Restaurant & Spa)  $23,745,480 

Hard Costs Residential $22,295,094 

Hard Costs Office $9,750,000 

Payment & Performance Bonds $523,457 

Insurance/Builders Risk $1,235,477 

General Contractor Fee $2,830,020 

Tenant Improvements $5,043,180 

Contingency $6,101,746 

Total Hard Costs $109,670,271 

Soft Costs 

Architecture/Engineering Services $3,248,652 

Legal $375,000 

Platting $75,000 

Civil Engineer (includes geo-tech and survey) $29,000 

Testing & Special Inspections $200,000 

Residential Marketing and FF&E $358,000 

Project Branding & Marketing $50,000 

Farmers Interest $504,000 

Hotel Pre Opening $1,000,000 

Hotel Supplies $400,000 

Hotel FFE $3,400,000 

Hotel Operator Technical Services Fee $200,000 



 

55854322.2 

Development Fee $4,564,451 

Project Staffing $2,250,000 

Residential Staffing $150,000 

Permit & Fees $796,053 

Accounting (Audit, etc.) $50,000 

Developer Reimbursements $300,000 

Leasing Commissions $1,792,817 

Soft Cost Contingency $750,000 

Total Soft Costs $20,492,974 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost 

Mortgage Broker Fee $57,029 

Bank Fee $114,059 

Title Insurance $85,544 

Mortgage Recording Tax $17,109 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $200,000 

3rd Parties $0 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost $473,741 

Construction Loan Closing Cost 

Mortgage Broker Fee $616,821 

Bank Fee $1,233,642 

Title Insurance $925,231 

Mortgage Recording Tax $185,046 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $500,000 

Construction Monitoring $150,000 

3rd Parties $250,000 

Construction Loan Closing Cost $3,860,740 

Interest Reserve 

Construction Loan Interest Reserve $3,000,000 

Bond Payment Reserve $2,399,022 

Mezzanine Loan Interest Reserve $1,026,530 

Total Financing Costs $6,425,552 

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS $214,558,862 

 
 
 

 



 
(Published in The Legal Record on August 1, and August 8, 2017) 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 
 A RESOLUTION CALLING AND PROVIDING FOR THE GIVING OF NOTICE 

OF A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE ADVISABILITY OF CREATING A 
COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT IN THE CITY OF MISSION, 
KANSAS TO BE KNOWN AS THE MISSION GATEWAY COMMUNITY 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT # 3 AND REGARDING THE CITY’S INTENT TO 
LEVY A COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SALES TAX WITHIN 
SUCH DISTRICT. 

 
 WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-6a26 et. seq. (the “Act”) authorizes the governing body of any city or 
county to create community improvement districts to finance projects within such defined area of the city or 
county and to levy a community improvement district sales tax and/or levy special assessments upon 
property within the district to finance projects; and 
  
 WHEREAS, a petition (the “Petition”) was filed with the City Clerk on June 16, 2017 proposing 
the creation of the Mission Gateway Community Improvement District # 3 (“CID”) under the Act,  the 
imposition of a community improvement district sales tax in order to pay the costs of projects as described 
in the Petition (the “Projects”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Petition was signed by the required number of owners of record, whether resident 
or not, as required by the Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Mission, Kansas (the “City”) intends to consider the creation of  the CID 
and levy a community improvement district sales tax in an amount equal to 1.0% as requested in the 
Petition (the “CID Sales Tax”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Governing Body hereby finds and determines it to be necessary to direct and order 
a public hearing on the advisability of creating the CID, approving the Projects set forth in the Petition and 
levying the CID Sales Tax, pursuant to the authority of the Act; and further to provide for the giving of 
notice of said hearing in the manner required by the Act. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF MISSION, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Petition.  The Governing Body hereby finds and determines that the Petition meets 
the requirements of the Act.   
 
 SECTION 2.  Public Hearing.  It is hereby authorized, ordered and directed that the Governing 
Body shall hold a public hearing, in accordance with the provisions of the Act, on the advisability of 
creating the CID, approving the Projects set forth in the Petition, and whether to impose a CID Sales Tax in 
an amount equal to 1.0% and such other matters related thereto, such public hearing to be held on August 
16, 2017 at 7:00 p.m., or as soon therafter as the matter can be heard, at Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson, 
Mission, Kansas, under the authority of the Act. 
 
 SECTION 3.  Proposed CID Projects.  The general nature of the proposed project is to promote 
the development of a new mixed-use commercial development located generally at the northeast corner of 



Shawnee Mission Parkway and Roeland Drive in the City.  The Projects may be more particularly 
described as the construction, maintenance, and procurement of certain improvements, costs, and services 
within the proposed CID, including but not limited to: land acquisition, infrastructure related items, 
sidewalks, parking lots, drainage improvements, buildings, tenant improvements, utilities, landscaping, 
lighting, signage, marketing and advertisement, cleaning and maintenance, security, soft costs of the 
Projects, and the City and the petitioner’s administrative costs in establishing and maintain the CID, and 
other items permitted to be financed within the CID under the Act (collectively, the “Projects”). 
 
 SECTION  4.  Estimated Cost.  The estimated cost of the proposed Projects is $214,558,862, plus 
associated financing costs, such as interest, reserves, and any costs associated with the issuance of bonds. 
 
 SECTION 5.  Method of Financing, Community Improvement District Sales Tax and Special 
Assessments.  The estimated cost of the proposed Projects, plus financing costs such as interest, reserves, 
and any costs associated with the issuance of bonds will be financed by through a combination of private 
equity, private debt and pay-as-you-go financing, as defined in the Act, and/or through the issuance of 
special obligation bonds/notes.   It is proposed that a CID Sales Tax in an amount equal to 1.0% be levied.   
There are no special assessments proposed in connection with the proposed CID. 
 
 SECTION 6.  Map and Legal Description of Proposed CID.  The legal description of the 
property to be contained in the proposed CID is set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein.  A map generally outlining the boundaries of the proposed CID is attached as Exhibit B 
hereto, and incorporated by reference herein. 
 
 SECTION 7.  Notice of Hearing.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized, ordered and directed to 
give notice of said public hearing by publication of this Resolution in the official newspaper.  Such 
publication shall be at least once each week for two consecutive weeks.  The second publication shall be at 
least 7 days prior to the date of the hearing.  The City Clerk is hereby further ordered and directed to mail a 
copy of this Resolution, via certified mail, to all property owners within such proposed CID at least 10 days 
prior to the date of the hearing. 
 
 SECTION 8.  Reimbursement. The City expects to make capital expenditures after the date of this 
Resolution in connection with the Projects, and the City intends to reimburse itself for such expenditures 
with the proceeds of obligations in the maximum principal amount of $20,000,000. 
 
 SECTION 9.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be effective upon adoption by the Governing 
Body. 
 
 ADOPTED by the Governing Body this 28th day of June 2017. 
 
 SIGNED by the Mayor this 28th day of June 2017. 
 
   
       _________________________________ 
       Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 



(SEAL) 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Martha Sumrall, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form only: 
 
_________________________________ 
David K. Martin, City Attorney 



 
CERTIFICATE 

 
 I, hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. _______ 
of the City of Mission, Kansas adopted by the Governing Body on June 28, 2017 as the same appears of 
record in my office. 
 
 DATED:  June ____, 2017. 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
        City Clerk 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED MISSION GATEWAY 
 COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT # 3 

 
Lot 1, The Gateway First Plat, Part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 
East, City of Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, less any portions in dedicated public street right 
of way (if any), more particularly described as: 
 
All that part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, in the City of 
Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING at the Southwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Township 12 
South, Range 25 East; thence North 1 degree 49 minutes 20 seconds West along the West line of 
the Northwest Quarter of said Section 9 a distance of 349.28 feet (339.15 feet Deed) to a point; 
thence North 88 degrees 10 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 1740.63 feet (1742.10 feet 
Deed) to a point on the East right of way line of Roeland Drive, the POINT OF BEGINNING; 
thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes  13 seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland 
Drive a distance of 358.19 feet to a point on the South right of way line of Johnson Drive; thence 
North 67 degrees 34 minutes 47 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive 
a distance of 143.70 feet to a point; thence North 68 degrees 09 minutes 28 seconds East along 
the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 434.76 feet to a point; thence South 21 
degrees 50 minutes 32 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance 
of 1.53 feet to a point; thence North 72 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds East along the South right 
of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 342.82 feet to a point; thence in a Northeasterly 
direction along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, 
having a radius of 297.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 degrees 19 minutes 18 seconds, an arc  
distance  of 48.36 feet to a point of compound  curvature; thence in a Southeasterly direction 
along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius 
of 106.25 feet, through a central angle of 85 degrees 00 minutes 09 seconds, an arc distance of 
157.63 feet to a point of compound curvature, said point also lying on the West right of way line 
of Roe Avenue; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the West right of way line of Roe 
Avenue and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 397.25 feet, through a central angle of 9 
degrees 59 minutes 48 seconds, an arc distance of 69.31 feet to a point; thence South 3 degrees 03 
minutes 14 second East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 111.19 feet 
to a point; thence South 2 degrees 07 minutes 38 seconds East along the West right of way line of 
Roe Avenue a distance of 200.66 feet to a point; thence  South 1 degree 54 minutes 32 seconds 
East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 42.62 feet to a point on the 
Northwesterly right of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway (also known as US Highway 56) as 
established in Book 200706 at Page 003864; thence South 37 degrees 23 minutes 58 seconds 
West along the Northwesterly right of way line of said Shawnee Mission Parkway a distance of 
936.45 feet to the point of intersection of the Northwesterly right of way line of Shawnee Mission 
Parkway and the East right of way line of Roeland Drive; thence North 52 degrees 36 minutes 02 
seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 44.00 feet to a 
point; thence in a Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and 
along a curve to the right, having a radius of 260.50 feet, through a central angle of 53 degrees 32 
minutes 02 seconds, an arc distance of 243.40 feet to a point of reverse curvature; thence in a 
Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to 
the left, having a radius of 490.00 feet, through a central angle of 34 degrees 25 minutes 13 
seconds, an arc distance of 294.37 feet to a point; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes 13 seconds 



 

West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 125.55 feet to the POINT 
OF BEGINNING and containing 721,889 Square Feet or 16.572 Acres, more or less. 
 
 

 



 

EXHIBIT B 
MAP OF PROPOSED MISSION GATEWAY COMMUNITY 

 IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT # 1 
 

 




